IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-317

Question of Great Public Importance Certified by the First District Court of Appeal

MARK EVAN OLIVE,

Appellant, Cross-Appellee,

v.

ROGER R. MAAS, in His Official Capacity
As Executive Director of the Commission on the
Administration of Justice in Capital Cases,
Appellee, Cross-Appellant,

And

ROBERT F. MILLIGAN, in His Official Capacity As Comptroller of the State of Florida, Appellee.

> INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT, CROSS-APPELLEE, MARK EVAN OLIVE

INTRODUCTION

[W]e must focus upon the criminal defendant whose rights are often forgotten in the heat of this bitter dispute.

Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So. 2d 1109, 1113 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1043 (1987).

A lawyer upon whose shoulders the State places "the dreadful responsibility of trying to save a man from electrocution" must provide competent, loyal, and effective representation. The criminal defendant's right to effective representation in postconviction proceedings derives from state statute. This Court has established and consistently reaffirmed rules of law designed to ensure the requisite effective representation, through adequate resources and compensation, and through rules of ethics designed to ensure zealous and independent advocacy in the exercise of a full range of procedural and substantive options. This Court has said that it "will not lightly forgive a breach of this professional duty [zealous representation within the bounds of the

Makemson, 491 So. 2d at 1111 (quoting the trial court). The Florida Legislature has subsequently authorized lethal injection as the primary method of carrying out a death sentence, with electrocution an available alternative method. § 922.105, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 2000) (ch. 2000-2, § 2, Laws of Fla.).

Remeta v. State, 559 So. 2d 1132, 1135 (Fla. 1990) ("[I]t is clear that this state has established a right to counsel in clemency proceedings for death penalty cases [§ 925.035(4), Fla. Stat. (1987)], and this statutory right necessarily carries with it the right to have effective assistance of counsel."); see also Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71, 72 (Fla. 1988) ("We recognize that, under section 27.702, each defendant under a sentence of death is entitled, as a statutory right, to effective legal representation by the capital collateral representative in all collateral relief proceedings."); Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363, 1369-70 (Fla. 1995) (right to counsel in state habeas corpus proceedings), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1053 (1996). Here, § 27.710, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), creates a statutory right to appointed counsel in postconviction capital collateral proceedings.

law in any case; in a case involving the death penalty it is the very foundation of justice." Wilson v. Wainwright, 474 So. 2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1985). See also Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 255 n.5 (Fla. 1999) ("[W]e remind counsel of the ethical obligation to provide coherent and competent representation, especially in death penalty cases."). Nevertheless, through Appellees and the Justice Administrative Commission, the State of Florida has crafted a mandatory contract for appointed postconviction counsel that requires such counsel to accept at the inception of the appointment, and waive any objection to, severe substantive restrictions on counsel's ability to provide effective representation in postconviction cases (the "Contract"). [A 1.]³ The offending restrictions fall into two general categories. First, the Contract requires postconviction counsel to accept specified maximum caps on the number of compensable hours that may be devoted to statutorily-defined "stages" of postconviction proceedings, and caps on the amount of attorneys' fees and costs available. These caps on compensable hours and the amount of compensation are derived from statute, which makes them the "exclusive means of compensation." [A 1 at 2 (from § 27.711(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998).] Second, the Contract requires postconviction counsel to comply with sweeping restrictions on counsel's advocacy and exercise of independent professional judgment in the conduct of the litigation for which the appointment was made. [A 1 at 2-3.1

Appellant Mark Evan Olive, perhaps the State's most experienced habeas corpus lawyer [R II - 200, Ex. A; A 2], challenged these contractual provisions after being appointed to represent a person sentenced to death, and then being told to sign the Contract. Olive maintained below that the Contract provisions are contrary to law and, accordingly, void and unenforceable. [R II - 200; R II - 299.] Olive has

_

The Contract is in the Record at R II -200, Ex. 5 to Ex. A, Olive's Affid. The Contract will be referenced herein at A 1.

the full force of law and public policy behind him, and is entitled to a judgment declaring the Contract void and unenforceable.

This Court has previously held that the State cannot impose absolute caps on the amounts of fees or costs that an attorney may

recover for services rendered in a capital case. <u>Makemson</u>, 491 So. 2d at 1110 ("We ... find the fee maximums unconstitutional when applied to cases involving extraordinary circumstances and unusual representation."); <u>White v. Board of County Comm'rs</u>, 537 So. 2d 1376, 1380 (Fla. 1989) ("We find that virtually every capital case fits within this standard [extraordinary circumstances and unusual representation] and justifies the court's exercise of its inherent power to award attorney's fees in excess of the current statutory fee cap."). An absolute cap on compensable hours or the amount of compensation allowed cannot co-exist with the indisputable right to effective assistance of counsel, including the right of that counsel to receive "adequate funding." <u>See Hoffman v. Haddock</u>, 695 So. 2d 682, 685 (Fla. 1997) (Wells, J., concurring).

Despite (or perhaps in part because of) this Court's clear

pronouncements in <u>Makemson</u> and <u>White</u>, the Florida Legislature enacted section 27.710, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), creating the requirement for the Contract. The Contract incorporates the requirements of Chapter 27, Part IV, Florida Statutes (entitled "Capital Collateral Representation," and referenced herein as the "Registry Act"). The Contract is mandatory, and expressly binds the attorney to comply with its terms and conditions in the course of litigating the case for which the attorney is appointed:

Each private attorney who is appointed by the court to represent a capital defendant must enter into a contract with the Comptroller. ... By signing such contract, the attorney certifies that he or she intends to continue the representation under the terms and conditions set forth in the contract until the sentence is reversed, reduced, or carried out or until released by order of the trial court.

§ 27.710(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998).

By signing the Contract, postconviction counsel agrees at the beginning of a representation not to subsequently request fees or costs that exceed specified statutory maximums as to both number of compensable hours that may be worked on a given "stage" of the litigation, and the amount of compensation available for discrete tasks that the statute defines:

The parties agree that services performed under this Contract shall be paid in accordance with Section 27.711(4), Florida Statutes, set forth as the Fee and Payment Schedule in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, and that said fee and payment schedule is the <u>exclusive means of compensation</u> hereunder.

[A 1 at 2, \P 3.A.) (emphasis added).]

The Contract strictly limits the number of compensable hours an attorney may work in preparing critical pleadings. [A 1 at 2, 5-6.] Compensation is available only after the major pleadings in the case have been filed or a particular "stage" of litigation is completed (with the added condition under the Death Penalty Reform Act of 2000, Ch. 2000-3, Laws of Florida (the "DPRA"), that the attorney must agree not to amend or supplement pleadings in order to obtain compensation). Further, if the case is delayed due to state action, such as the withholding of public records or an interlocutory appeal, 4 no interim fees are available and enormous economic pressure comes to bear on appointed counsel to bring the litigation to a potentially hasty end.

The effect of these requirements is to circumvent <u>Makemson</u> and <u>White</u> by handing the State a waiver defense to any subsequent attempt by postconviction counsel to obtain compensation that exceeds the statutory hours, fees, or cost maximums. The central point of Olive's challenge to the statutory caps is not that the caps themselves

4

Delay due to state action is a real, and not merely theoretical, problem. See, e.g., Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993) (withholding of public records); Trepal v. State, No. SC94505 (2000 WL 263684) (Fla. Mar. 9, 2000) (Fla. 2000) (interlocutory appeal); State v. Lewis, 656 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1994) (same).

are necessarily unconstitutional on their face or as applied in this or any other particular case, but rather that the State cannot validly extract an advance waiver of postconviction counsel's right to request excess compensation, particularly when at the time of making the waiver counsel may have no way to know whether or not it may be necessary or appropriate to request compensation in excess of the caps. Additionally, the State may not disqualify an attorney for appointment based on the attorney's belief that the case cannot be effectively handled within the scheduled limits. Olive's Affidavit filed with the trial court demonstrated that, based on his substantial experience, he knows the risk to be substantial and not merely theoretical. [A 2 at 12-14.] The same conclusion follows from the report prepared in 1998 by Robert Spangenberg of The Spangenberg Group, entitled "Amended Time and Expense Analysis of Post-Conviction Capital Cases in Florida" ("Spangenberg 1998"). [R II – 200, Ex. 7 to Ex. A.] In addition to eliciting from postconviction counsel an advance waiver of any objection to the statutory fee and cost maximums regardless of future

circumstances, the Contract imposes significant restraints on counsel's advocacy and independence. [A 1 at 2-3.] It merits emphasis here that this Contract is not between attorney and client, but between attorney and the opposing party, which seeks to carry out a sentence of death upon the client. By reference to section 27.711(11), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), the Contract prohibits postconviction counsel from representing, or assigning another attorney to represent, the capital defendant in any civil litigation other than habeas corpus proceedings, or any civil or criminal litigation in any other state even if this representation is done pro bono and is necessary for the purpose of pursuing habeas corpus relief. [A 1 at 2.] At the same time, postconviction counsel is prohibited from filing pleadings in advance of factual development as authorized by Ventura v. State, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996), and arguing for the expansion, modification, or reversal of existing law. ⁵ [A 1 at 3 ¶ 4.] In initial postconviction proceedings, this has the effect of prohibiting preparation and filing of claims based on developing law; claims based on a successful challenge to a prior conviction that was introduced against the client in support of a death sentence; claims

Imagine what death penalty jurisprudence would look like now if this had been the standard for the past 25 years. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987). Imagine how many clients of postconviction lawyers would now be dead without having had the benefit of developments in death penalty jurisprudence.

based on the client's juvenile record; claims based on mental health records, particularly if they are maintained in another state; and claims based on information obtainable through a lawsuit brought under the federal Freedom of Information Act. Despite these restrictions (or perhaps because of them), the statute provides that no act (and presumably no omission) of postconviction counsel pursuant to the statute or the Contract may later form the basis of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. § 27.711(10), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998).

During the representation, in order to obtain compensation,

postconviction counsel must make available to the public, under the public records law, "all documents, papers, letters or other materials" relating to the representation. [A 1 at 3 ¶6.] The Contract makes the State's Justice Administrative Commission – not the court – the final arbiter of what is and what is not subject to public access. [Id.] Finally, the Contract prohibits counsel from "filing ...

repetitive pleadings" [A 1 at 2-3]; while the statute prohibits postconviction counsel from engaging in or being compensated for any "repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death," even if such litigation is based on newly discovered evidence of innocence, ineligibility for the death penalty, a newly discovered constitutional violation, incompetence for execution, or a fundamental change in law made retroactive on habeas corpus review. § 27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). In all cases, the Contract and statute prohibit the attorney from representing the client at a retrial or

resentencing or a clemency proceeding. Under the statutory fee schedule incorporated in the contract, no funds or other resources are available for the attorney to do anything on behalf of a client facing execution, including meet with the client. § 27.711(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). Nevertheless, the attorney must agree to represent the client until the sentence is carried out unless released by the trial court. § 27.711(8), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998).

Each of these provisions places postconviction counsel in the untenable and unethical position of conducting the representation under severely handicapping restrictions. Appointed postconviction counsel are subject to restrictions not placed on private counsel acting pro bono publico, attorneys employed by the Capital Collateral Regional Counsels, or attorneys retained to represent a person sentenced to death. The outcome of postconviction litigation conducted by such an attorney is unreliable. This is not a lawyer; this is the illusion of a lawyer – an illusion that presents a clear and present danger to the client under a sentence of death.

Because the Contract forces postconviction counsel to waive the protections of <u>Makemson</u> and <u>White</u>, which were designed to ensure effective representation; and further to waive ethical rules that were

also designed to ensure effective representation, the Contract is void and unenforceable.

The stakes here are as high as they get.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The undisputed record evidence shows that Olive is a 22-year lawyer and 14-year member of The Florida Bar who specializes in capital trial and capital postconviction representation and has very substantial experience in this area. [A 2 at 1-3.] After the Florida Legislature adopted the Registry Act, part IV of chapter 27, in 1998, Olive applied for inclusion on the statewide registry of private attorneys available for court appointment to represent indigent death row inmates in capital postconviction proceedings. [A 2 at 4; R II – 200 at Ex. C.] See generally §§ 27.710-.711, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). Olive's application was approved and he was placed on the registry list. [A 2 at 4; R II-200 at Ex. C.] On September 1, 1998, Fourth Judicial Circuit Judge Donald R. Moran appointed Olive to represent death row inmate Anthony Mungin. [R II-200 Ex. C.] Olive entered an attorney-client relationship with Mungin. [A 2 at 4-5.] He reviewed materials in Mungin's case. [Id.] He corresponded with Mungin. [Id.] He had his associate meet with Mungin. [Id.] Olive attested below that Mungin wanted Olive to represent him, and that Olive wanted to represent Mungin. [Id.] He evaluated the case sufficiently to develop explicit theories about how to handle it and some specific actions that would be required, as well as the approximate number of hours of attorney time that would be required to handle the case. [A 2 at 5-10.] Shortly thereafter, Appellee Rober R. Maas as Executive Director of the State Justice Administrative Commission submitted the Contract to Olive, instructing him to sign and return it. [A 1.]

The Contract is mandatory under the Registry Act. See § 27.710(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). The Contract requires each participating lawyer to certify "that he or she intends to continue the representation under the terms and conditions set forth in the contract until the sentence is reversed, reduced, or

The 1999 Florida Legislature adopted certain changes to the Registry Act, effective July 1, 1999. 99-221, Laws of Fla. These changes, which will be noted when appropriate herein, further evidence the need for a declaratory judgment on Olive's claims.

Although section 27.710(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), requires postconviction counsel to enter a contract with the Comptroller of Florida, the contracting party on behalf of the State is the Justice Administrative Commission, with the Comptroller serving as contract manager. [A 1 at 1.]

carried out or until released by order of the trial court." [A 1 at 2; see § 27.710(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). The Contract incorporates the waivers of objection to the statutory hours, fees, and costs schedule, stating again, as does the statute, that these are the "exclusive means of compensation" for postconviction counsel. [A 1 at 2.] The Contract further sets forth restrictions on the scope of the representation, as discussed in the Introduction above. [A 1 at 2-3.]

After being appointed and entering into an attorney-client relationship with Mungin, Olive refused to allow the relationship to be restricted as set forth in the Contract. He therefore challenged the terms and conditions of the Contract as unlawful and therefore void, first by filing a Petition to invoke this Court's all writs jurisdiction, then by filing a complaint for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief in Leon County Circuit Court. [R I – 1 (Complaint); R II-200 (Amended Complaint).] Olive's lawsuit produced a final order in the form of a Declaratory Judgment that "the fee and cost limits set forth in Section 27.711, Florida Statutes, are not facially unconstitutional, and the statute does not, on its face, preclude capital defendants from receiving effective assistance of counsel in post-conviction proceedings." [A 3 at 2; R III - 557.] The order further declared that "the limitations set forth in Sections 27.711(9) and 27.711(10), Florida Statutes, do not, on their face, infringe upon the Florida Supreme Court's exclusive jurisdiction to regulate the conduct of lawyers." [A 3 at 2; R III - 557.] The trial court did not address Olive's claim that both the statute and the terms and conditions of the Contract were void and unenforceable because they required him to waive his right to exceed the prescribed maximum number of hours, fees, or costs, and because they required him to agree to violate his duties of loyalty and confidentiality to his client.

Olive timely appealed to the First District Court of Appeal [R III –

559], which granted his Suggestion of Certification for Immediate Resolution by

10

⁸ Olive's Petition was filed with this Court on October 15, 1999, assigned Case No. 94,088. The Petition was denied by Order dated February 11, 1999, with Justice Anstead noting he would have ordered a response.

The trial court denied Olive's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted Appellees' ore tenus Motions for Summary Judgment. [R III-554.]

this Court as a case of great public importance. This Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated February 23, 2000.

As a result of Olive's court challenges to the terms and conditions of the Contract, the trial judge who had appointed him to represent Mungin revoked his appointment. [R II – 200 Ex. G.] Olive remains listed on the statewide registry for postconviction counsel, but has not been appointed to any case since then. [R III – 537, Second Affid. Of Maas.]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is de novo because the issues are purely legal and the material facts undisputed. <u>Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, Inc.</u>, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993), <u>aff'd in part, rev'd in part sub nom. Madsen v. Women's Health Center, Inc.</u>, 512 U.S. 753 (1994).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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