### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK EVAN OLIVE,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-317

ROGER R. MAAS, in his Official Capacity as Executive Director of the Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases; and ROBERT F. MILLIGAN, in his Official Capacity as Comptroller of the State of Florida; and ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General of the State of Florida,

Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

On Certification From the First District Court of Appeal of a Question Requiring Immediate Resolution by this Court

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES/

INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANTS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## Issues on Appeal

I. The trial court correctly found sections 27.710 and 27.711, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), facially constitutional. Contrary to Olive's argument, nothing in those statutes requires an attorney to waive--or prohibits an attorney from requesting--additional compensation that might be justified in the extraordinary and unusual case. Nor is there such categorical language in the contract. Olive has failed to show these statutes cannot be constitutionally applied in any set of circumstances.

II. Olive's objections to section 27.711 and the contract on various hypothesized ethical grounds likewise present no basis for a facial challenge to that statute or the contract. Again, Olive fails to show that the statute cannot be constitutionally applied in any set of circumstances. Moreover, the purported "facts" upon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>After the trial court orally denied Olive's motion for summary judgment on Counts I and II, defendants moved <u>ore tenus</u> for summary judgment in their favor and Olive waived any objection to notice. R III, p. 556.

which he relies to create his sundry ethical conundrums are contingent and uncertain and rest in the future. A court may not render a declaratory judgment on such allegations.

### Issues on Cross-appeal

I. Olive had no standing to bring this action because he had no contract and no appointment to represent Anthony Mungin in postconviction proceedings under Part IV of Chapter 27. Whatever attorney-client relationship he may now claim to have had with Mr. Mungin, it was not that of an appointed attorney. Olive was not affected by the provisions of section 27.710, 27,711 and the contract, he had no client who was affected, and he therefore lacked standing to bring this action. To the extent any of his concerns have merit, they can be raised at an appropriate time in any of the 60 or more cases in which counsel have been duly appointed to represent capital defendants in postconviction proceedings.

II. The trial court lacked jurisdiction to consider this action and render declaratory relief under Chapter 86, Florida Statutes, and therefore should have granted the motion to dismiss Counts I and II. Olive's claims were not based on any present, live controversy, but rested entirely on speculative assertions and contingent events. A court has no jurisdiction to render a declaratory judgment in such circumstances. Although Olive also claims he sought to have a contract construed, he was not a party to the contract. Courts do not have jurisdiction to render advisory

opinions to persons who are not parties to contracts about what the terms of the contract might mean. Most especially is that true in the complete absence of present, real and ascertainable facts.

### ARGUMENT

I. THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 27.711(3) AND (4), FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1998), AS IMPLEMENTED BY THE CONTRACT ARE NOT VOID AND THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THOSE PROVISIONS FACIALLY CONSTITUTIONAL.

The thrust of Olive's argument in the first point of his brief is that the provisions of section 27.711(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), and the contract absolutely prohibit counsel in postconviction proceeding from requesting compensation in excess of the specified statutory limits; that the (assertedly) inflexible statutory maximums infringe on a court's inherent authority to insure effective representation in postconviction proceedings; and, finally, that Olive was entitled to a declaratory judgment invalidating "the requirement of an advance waiver of any right to exceed the caps." (Brief at 19,20,22) Olive claims that he was entitled to know before entering the contract whether it was "valid." (Brief at 28)

Assuming that an attorney who has no contract, no client and no facts upon which to base an inadequacy of compensation claim—other than those he has hypothesized—is even entitled to a declaratory judgment (an issue on cross—appeal), defendants Milligan and Butterworth submit the lower court certainly did not err in holding sections 27.710 and 27.711 <u>facially</u> constitutional.

The first and most obvious trouble with Olive's argument is its erroneous premise. The statutory language and the language of the contract simply do not bar an appointed attorney from requesting additional fees. The statute does not instruct courts that they

may not consider such a request and does not purport to interfere with courts' inherent authority. Although most of the pertinent case law is cited in his brief, Olive fails to acknowledge the holdings in those cases and the fatal impact they have on his argument.

In construing the language of section 925.036, Florida Statutes (1985), a statute which set maximum limits on compensation of appointed counsel in criminal cases, this Court has rejected the argument made here. See Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1986). The Court held the statute facially valid, invoking the doctrine of inherent judicial power to declare the statutory maximums on fees and costs directory rather than mandatory. It found that in "extraordinary or unusual circumstances" a court had inherent authority to depart from the specified maximums to insure

### 3. Payment of Services

The statutory language Olive apparently relies on provides that, "[t]he fee and payment schedule in this section is the exclusive means of compensating a court-appointed attorney who represents a capital defendant." Section 27.711(3), Florida Statutes. The hourly rate of \$100 per hour up to a specified maximum, which is payable at various intervals, is prescribed in section 27.711(4). The contract language that concerns Mr. Olive provides that:

A. The parties agree that services performed under this Contract shall be paid in accordance with Section 27.711(4), Florida Statutes (1998), set forth as the Fee and Payment Schedule in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, and that said fee and payment schedule is the exclusive means of compensation hereunder....

R I, p. 118, Exhibit A-5. This language merely tracks the statute and adds nothing to it.

a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

Soon thereafter, in White v. Pinellas County, 537 So.2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1989), this Court, adverting to the Makemson ruling, found that capital cases "by their very nature can be considered extraordinary and unusual and arquably justify an award in excess of the [section 725.036(2)(d)] cap." (emphasis "Arguably," of course, does not mean "always." This Court has also held that in other types of proceedings, such as executive clemency, counsel appointed for a capital defendant may be entitled to compensation exceeding a statutory cap if necessary to fairly compensate counsel and insure effective representation. See Remeta <u>v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 1990). The summary judgment appealed here acknowledges Makemson and White as controlling authority on the question of the facial validity of sections 27.710 and 27.711. R III, p. 556.

Although Olive cites and relies on all of these cases as supporting a right to additional compensation, he completely ignores the fact that this Court declined to hold the statutes facially invalid, ruling that caps on compensation and costs, when appropriate, are to be construed as directory rather than mandatory. Apparently, what he really sought by this purported declaratory judgment action was a ruling that he was entitled to additional compensation for representing Mr. Mungin before he even undertook that representation. Besides being a misuse of the declaratory judgment act, the ruling he sought is contrary to those

cases that make clear that the appropriate fee is to be determined by the trial court <u>after</u> services are performed, not before the attorney commits to represent a defendant. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Monroe County v. Garcia</u>, 695 So.2d 823 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (award of fee in excess of statutory limit quashed because counsel did not show that the number of hours spent on the case was reasonable and the lower court did not find that the case involved "extraordinary circumstances and unusual representation"); <u>Brevard County v. Eisenmenger</u>, 567 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (requiring detailed documentation of attorney's services); <u>Hillsborough County v. Unterberger</u>, 534 So.2d 839 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) ("there was no showing that the \$40 hourly rate denied adequate representation of indigent criminal defendants or that their rights to counsel were violated").

In light of the absence of <u>any</u> argument as to what facts and statutory language might compel a different interpretation of section 27.710 and 27.711, Olive has presented no basis for a reversal of the decision of the lower court finding those provisions facially valid. Moreover, to succeed on a facial challenge a plaintiff must show that there exists <u>no</u> set of circumstances in which the statute can be constitutionally applied. See <u>Voce v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 541 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), <u>rev. denied</u>, 464 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1985); <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 686 So.2d 633, 637 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). The mere fact that a statute "might be unconstitutionally applied in certain situations [provides] no ground for finding the statute itself unconstitutional." <u>State v.</u>

Ecker, 311 So.2d 104, 110 (Fla. 1975). Olive has not shown that section 27.711 provides inadequate compensation in all postconviction capital collateral proceedings. Indeed, the evidence was to the contrary. See R III, pp. 537, 539 and 554 (Exhibit 4) (reflecting attorneys' compensation requests below specified limits). The trial court had a duty to give the statutes a constitutional construction if possible, and it correctly did so. See Felts v. State, 537 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), decision approved, 549 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1988).

II. THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 27.711, FLORIDA STATUTES (1998 SUPP.), DO NOT ON THEIR FACE REQUIRE POSTCONVICTION COUNSEL TO ENGAGE UNETHICAL CONDUCT OR VIOLATE Α CAPITAL DEFENDANT'S RIGHT, ΙF ANY, **EFFECTIVE** TO ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The gravamen of Olive's second issue on appeal is that "[o]n their face, certain provisions of the Registry Act and the Contract compel postconviction counsel to violate ethical duties under the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, which has the effect of denying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In the trial court Olive argued that because section 27.711(6) allows for payment of <u>costs</u> that exceed the \$15,000 cap in extraordinary circumstances, the application of the maxim "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" means the legislature did not intend there to be any payment of attorney <u>fees</u> in excess of the caps. Understandably, Olive has not pursued this contention in his brief. The "expressio unius" maxim is not applied to invalidate statutes as it plainly conflicts with a bedrock principle: "This court is committed to the proposition that it has a duty, if reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights, to resolve all doubts as to the validity of a statute in favor of its constitutionality and <u>to construe it so as not to conflict with the Constitution</u>." <u>State v. Gale Distributors, Inc.</u>, 349 So.2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1977) (emphasis added).

death-sentenced clients their right to effective representation of counsel." (Brief at 31) (emphasis added)

Considered in more detail, Olive's argument raises only the **possibility** of potential ethical conflicts in **some** cases. Thus, he asserts that:

- 1. Section 27.711(10) **might** in some cases preclude a <u>Johnson</u> challenge. (<u>See Johnson v.</u> Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988))
- 2. Section 27.711(10) **might** prohibit further representation by appointed counsel in retrial or resentencing proceedings.
- 3. Section 27.711(9) prohibits the filing of frivolous or repetitive pleadings which, according to Olive, **might** preclude the making of good faith arguments based on the expansion, modification or reversal of existing law.
- 4. Compliance with the contract's public records requirement **might** violate lawyer-client confidentiality and the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment.
- 5. Compliance with the contract's requirement to submit detailed billing invoices to the Comptroller has the "real potential" to violate duties of loyalty and confidentiality.
- 6. The language of section 27.711(1)(c) which would preclude payment for repetitive or successive collateral challenges is unethical because it is unreasonable.

All of these contentions present, at best, hypothetical and even remote contingencies. They certainly constitute no basis for a <u>facial</u> challenge to section 27.711. (Nor do such contingent assertions present a proper basis for a declaratory judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This point was not raised in Olive's motion for summary judgment (or in the amended complaint) and is therefore not properly before the Court.

action, an issue raised in the cross-appeal.) It is possible, even likely, that most postconviction proceedings will involve no Johnson challenge. It is possible, indeed probable, that in any given case no public records in the possession of counsel will betray a client confidence. The same would be true of billing invoices. Olive cites no authority to support the proposition that he should be able to submit all billing invoices to a trial court ex parte and in camera, the declaration he requested. (See also Brief at 38) Furthermore, what is "frivolous or repetitive" as distinguished from a good faith argument to modify existing law cannot be determined apart from the circumstances of a particular Even the language of section 27.711(10) might best be interpreted as only prohibiting state compensation to a previously appointed collateral attorney for representation of the defendant at retrial, resentencing or the other specified proceedings, if that should be necessary to sustain its validity. Furthermore, the idea that a capital defendant who is indigent for purposes of collateral representation would later be able to compensate the attorney appointed for the collateral proceedings representation at a retrial or resentencing presents the remotest of possibilities.

As with his first issue, Olive has made no case for the facial invalidity of section 27.711 in that he has failed to show that the statute is invalid in all applications and in all cases. Indeed, it is not the task of this Court on appeal "to envision theoretical combinations of factors which, if present, might render a statute

unconstitutional." See Fieldhouse v. Public Health Trust of Dade County, 375 So.2d 476, 478 (Fla. 1979). Nor was it the duty of the trial court to engage in such imaginings in a declaratory judgment action. See Williams v Howard, 329 So.2d 277, 282 (Fla. 1976) ("a court will not entertain a suit to determine a declaration of rights for parties upon facts which have not arisen, upon matters which are contingent, uncertain or rest in the future...").

Olive's arguments betray a fundamental misunderstanding of postconviction capital collateral proceedings as structured under Chapter 27, Pt. IV, Florida Statutes. This Court has clearly held that Part IV is not created to implement a constitutional right to representation in postconviction relief proceedings, for there is no such right. See State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kenny, 714 So.2d 404, 407 (Fla. 1998). All that is required in postconviction relief proceedings, whether capital or non-capital, "is that the defendant have meaningful access to the judicial process." Id. at A capital defendant thus has a statutory right representation under Part IV, but that representation "is for the sole purpose of 'challenging the legality of the judgment and sentence imposed, ' and ... such litigation is not to include 'civil litigation.'" Id. at 407. It seems absolutely clear from the Kenny decision that given the legislature's expressed intent to limit collateral representation to challenges to the validity of a capital defendant's conviction and sentence, the legislature could prohibit extending representation by CCRC to "retrials, resentencings, proceedings commenced under chapter 940, or civil

litigation." <u>Id</u>. at 408 (citing section 27.7001, Florida Statutes). Section 27.711(10), reflects the same legislative intent as section 27.7001.

Olive's point on appeal is not that the limitations on collateral representation in Part IV deny capital defendants meaningful access to the judicial process. Rather, it is the scatter gun contention that all the limitations "on their face" require postconviction counsel to engage in "unethical conduct" which jeopardizes the "right to effective assistance of counsel."

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